# Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

5-12-2016

# American Semiconductor v. Sage Silicon Appellant's Brief 1 Dckt. 43011

#### A. NATURE OF THE CASE

Appellant-Plaintiff American Semiconductor, Inc. ("ASI") appeals various rulings that unduly prejudiced its pursuit of applicable breach of contract, breach of fiduciary duty, intentional interference with contract and tortious interference with prospective business advantage claims against Respondents-Defendants David Roberts ("Roberts"), Gyle Yearsley ("Yearsley"), William Tiffany ("Tiffany"), Sage Silicon Solutions, LLC ("Sage") and Zilog, Inc. ("Zilog"). This lawsuit arose out of the unauthorized and concealed "moonlighting" activities by ASI's then employees Roberts, Yearsley, Tiffany (and two others) who, through their undisclosed entity, Sage, provided engineering services that were unlawfully solicited by Zilog. (Roberts, Yearsley, Tiffany and Sage are sometimes jointly referred to as the "Sage Defendants.")

At trial, ASI established that Roberts, Yearsley and Tiffany breached their contractual and fiduciary duties to ASI and, along with Sage, interfered with ASI's reasonable expectation of providing design engineering services to Zilog through its employment of Roberts, Yearsley, and Tiffany. ASI sought to prove that Zilog interfered with non-compete provisions of agreements between ASI and its employees, induced breaches of those agreements, and that Zilog interfered with ASI's prospective economic expectancy by depriving ASI of the opportunity to earn income from the services of its employees. The District Court erroneously precluded ASI from submitting the latter claim to the jury and from presenting relevant evidence pertaining to damages. The District Court further made erroneous prevailing party determinations concerning Zilog and the Sage Defendants, determinations that followed, in part, from the underlying errors.

#### **B.** STATEMENT OF FACTS

ASI is a Boise-based semiconductor company founded in 2001. (Tr. 735:9-21.)<sup>1</sup> ASI is focused on developing technology that would keep American semiconductor technology relevant and promote extended use of onshore resources for semiconductor production.<sup>2</sup> (Tr. 738:1-10.)

Zilog is a company that designs microcontrollers and manufactures integrated circuits and is a wholly owned subsidiary of IXYS, Inc. ("IXYS"), having been acquired as of early 2010. (Tr. 1519:16–1520:2; 1513:19–22; 2217:14–19.)

Roberts, Yearsley and Tiffany are design engineers who worked for Zilog until they were laid off in early 2009, and who subsequently became employees of ASI. (Tr. 1786:24–1787:3; 1937:7–15; 1973:16–20; 743:10–22.)

Sage was organized in 2010 by Roberts, Yearsley, Tiffany, Russell Lloyd ("Lloyd"), Evelyn Perryman ("Perryman") and Joshua Nekl. (Tr. 1836:20–1827:4; R. 173.) Lloyd, a design engineer, and Perryman, a layout designer, were laid off from Zilog in early 2009, (Tr. 1826:20– 1827:4; R. 172–73 (Response to Interrogatory No. 9)), and later became employees of ASI. (Tr. 749:12–750:23; 832:5–13; 1722:18–19.) (Roberts, Yearsley, Tiffany and Lloyd are sometimes jointly referred to as the "Engineers.") Sage was a direct competitor of ASI. (Tr. 1080:6-12.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> "Tr." refers to the 3038-page transcript of various proceedings as reported by Ms. Wolf.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> ASI has served a variety of high-profile customers including the Department of Energy, NASA, the Department of Defense, the Jet Propulsion Laboratory, the Boeing Company and Ames Research Lab, among others. (Tr. 738:13–19.) ASI has been the recipient of several industry recognitions including: the Boeing Company's 2007 Supplier of the Year Award; the Idaho Innovation Award in 2007; first place finish in the LOPEC Conference Business Case Award in Munich, Germany; and the 2013 FlexTech Alliance Award for Innovation. (Tr. 741:5–23.) ASI was also recognized as a Boeing Performance Excellence Award recipient in 2015

#### 1. Zilog Layoffs and Subsequent Hiring Freeze

Prior to 2009, the Engineers and Perryman were part of Zilog's Idaho-based design teams. (Tr. 2215:6–2216:7.) By the mid-1990s, Zilog had a significant presence in the Treasure Valley with about 600 employees locally. (Tr. 737:18–21.) As of mid-2005, however, that number had dwindled to about 30. (Tr. 1366:5–13.)

Zilog continued to shed its Idaho-based workforce, resulting in further layoffs in 2009 when the Engineers and Perryman were laid off. (Tr. 2215:1–2216:7.) After the 2009 layoffs, Zilog was left with no design engineers in Idaho. (Tr. 2216:12–15; 2235:5–11; 1556:9–18.) As of November 2010, none of the engineers at IXYS (which had by then acquired Zilog) had any experience with Zilog designs. (Tr. 1556:19–1557:7; 2226:10–19.) Companywide, Zilog was left with two individuals who considered themselves to be design engineers, but who actually played other managerial roles within the company. (Tr. 2216:16–2217:4, 2235:5–14.)

The design engineers that IXYS was left with at another of its subsidiaries, Clare, were less experienced, more expensive and less efficient than the Engineers. (Tr. 1988:7–1989:8; 2217:20–2218:1; 2251:19–2252:12.) In January 2011, after Zilog laid off all of its design teams, IXYS instituted a group-wide hiring freeze. (Tr. 2237:25–2238:15.)

#### 2. ASI Hires the Engineers and Perryman as Employees

After Roberts was laid off from Zilog, ASI learned that he was looking for local employment opportunities and subsequently engaged him as a consultant in April 2009. (Tr. 743:10–13; 747:4–9.) ASI also learned that the other Engineers and Perryman had likewise been laid off from Zilog and were searching for local employment opportunities. (Tr. 743:14–744:17.)

ASI recognized that the Engineers were skilled design engineers who needed work, with Lloyd having lost his house as a result of his job loss. (Tr. 748:14–18; 749:12–19.)

ASI explored ways to grow its business so as to keep the Engineers working locally, including the preparation and submission of proposals for new work. (Tr. 748:19–24.) ASI desired to create a synergistic outcome whereby the Engineers would get work opportunities while ASI would grow as a business with expanded ability to provide design services. (Tr. 749:20–750:7.) Thus, as of 2009, ASI was actively working to create employment opportunities for the Engineers. (*Id.*)

*Offers of Design Engineering Services to Zilog.* In June 2009, Roberts sent David Staab, his former direct supervisor at Zilog and a Zilog vice-president, an e-mail where he informed Mr. Staab that he was working with ASI on an ARPA-E<sup>3</sup> proposal for an extreme low power microcontroller and that ASI hoped to get the contract. (Tr. 1830:11–1832:9.) Mr. Staab acknowledged the e-mail and thanked Roberts for the update. (Tr. 1832:11–1832:13.) ASI considered Zilog to be a potential customer at this point in time given that (i) ASI had provided design services to Zilog in 2003 and (ii) Zilog had laid off its design engineering team and would thus need to use outside design resources for any design work. (Tr. 802:14–804:6.)

In further response to Roberts, two days later, Mr. Staab stated that Zilog was looking at developing a new microcontroller. (Tr. 1832:14–1833:4.) Roberts shared Zilog's plans with Doug

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Advanced Research Projects – Energy (ARPA-E) is a U.S. government agency tasked with promoting and funding research and development of high-potential, high-impact energy technologies. *See* http://arpa-e.energy.gov/?q=arpa-e-site-page/about (last accessed, Mar. 30, 2016.)

Hackler, ASI's CEO; Rich Chaney, ASI's General Manager; and Dale Wilson, ASI's Director of Design and Test. (Tr. 1833:5–1833:18; 806:20–810:7; 1242:20–1244:20.) Roberts undertook to let Zilog know of ASI's capabilities in providing outsourced engineering services, and committed to get Mr. Chaney involved immediately if Zilog was interested. (Tr. 1834:2–1835:19.) Roberts followed up and spoke with Mr. Staab about ASI's interest. (1835:20–1835:22.) ASI never advised Roberts or Zilog that it was no longer interested in the potential Zilog opportunity. (1835:17–1835:19.)

*SBIR Proposal Leading to Part-Time Employment*. ASI submitted an SBIR<sup>4</sup> proposal that was subsequently awarded in late 2009. (Tr. 748:25–751:3.) Roberts worked on that SBIR proposal as part of an ASI team. (Tr. 751:4–23; 1232:3–14.) Viewing the success of the SBIR proposal as a hopeful sign, ASI hired Roberts on a part-time basis as a design manager in December 2009, around the same time it hired the other Engineers on a part-time basis as design engineers. (Tr. 752:18–753:6.) ASI offered the Engineers part-time employment with the expectation of conversion to full-time as new contracts resulting in additional work were secured. (Tr. 763:10–767:23; 769:11–770:5; 770:9–773:5.) As a result, on or around December 9, 2009, the Engineers each executed a separate employee confidentiality agreement ("ECA"). (Tr. 775:11–779:3.)

Paragraph 7 of the ECAs prohibited the Engineers and, later, Perryman from providing services to or assisting in any business in competition with ASI's current or planned business:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Small Business Innovation Research (SBIR) is a highly competitive U.S. government program that encourages domestic small businesses to engage in research and development that has the potential for commercialization. *See* https://www.sbir.gov/about/about-sbir#sbir-program (last accessed, Mar. 30, 2016.)

7. <u>Duty Not to Compete</u>. Employee understands that his/her employment requires his/her undivided attention and effort during normal business hours. While employed, Employee will not, without Employer's express written consent, provide services to, or assist in any manner, any business or third party which competes with the current or planned business of Employer.

(Plaintiff's Exs. 4; 13; 14, at ¶ 7.)

*SAIC Contract Leading to Full-Time Employment.* In the meantime, ASI had at least one other business development proposal in the works with SAIC, an American company, that resulted in a contract for design work in January 2010. (Tr. 754:12–756:14.) The SAIC contract, valued at over \$1 million, provided additional work opportunities that made it possible for ASI to convert the Engineers from part-time to full-time employees on or around January 18, 2010. (*See, e.g.*, Tr. 756:1–757:9; 790:19–793:21.) ASI hired Perryman as a part-time employee in April 2010; she never became a full-time employee of ASI. (Tr. 832:5–16; 1728:17–1729:4.)

As a design manager, Roberts had direct supervisory responsibility over the other Engineers and Perryman, and he reported to Mr. Wilson. (Tr. 753:7–22.) Because the Engineers' design experience at Zilog had been with dated or otherwise old technologies as compared to ASI's state-of-the-art technologies, ASI immediately began investing in them so as to update their skills after the Engineers and Perryman became its employees. (Tr. 750:10–23.)

Having brought the Engineers on board as employees to expand design capabilities, ASI had expectations, as of January 2010, that these employees would bolster its prospects of obtaining new design projects, including work from Zilog. (Tr. 817:2–820:3.) ASI had expectations about the prospects of obtaining Zilog's outsourced design work in the future based on (i) exchanges Mr.

Hackler had with Roberts following an inquiry to Roberts from Zilog, (ii) Roberts' undertaking to follow-up on that inquiry on ASI's behalf, (iii) Zilog's lack of design engineering expertise, (iv) the Engineers' prior experience with Zilog and expertise with Zilog technology and designs, and (v) previous outsourcing work conducted by ASI on behalf of Zilog. (*Id.*)

## 3. ASI Advises Zilog of its New Hires and Solicits Design Work

Mr. Hackler, ASI's CEO, ran into Rick White, then vice-president of worldwide operations for Zilog, at the Boise Airport in early 2010. (Tr. 836:19–838:11.) Mr. Hackler recalled informing Mr. White that the Engineers had found permanent employment at ASI and that ASI had the capability to meet Zilog's future needs for design services. (Tr. 838:12–839:19.) Mr. Hackler understood that Mr. White would inform Zilog's main office of ASI's recent hires and its enhanced capabilities. (*See* Tr. 839:22–25.)

Mr. Hackler ran into Mr. White once again at the Boise Airport a month or two later. (Tr. 840:8–25.) Mr. Hackler inquired as to whether Mr. White had checked with the main office and testified that Mr. White reported having discussed the matter with Mr. Staab who advised that Zilog was not designing new products at the time, but that Zilog was glad to know that ASI had the capability to offer design services in the future. (Tr. 840:15–841:9.)

# 4. The Engineers and Perryman Organize Sage in Late January 2010

After the Engineers had become full-time employees of ASI, they formally organized Sage. (Tr. 1664:12–17.) The paperwork formally creating Sage was filed on January 28, 2010. (Tr. 1826:23–1827:4.) At no point did the Engineers or Perryman disclose to ASI that they had organized Sage. (Tr. 801:19–802:4.)

## 5. Zilog Seeks to Create New Products But Lacks Design Engineers

Later in 2010, Zilog sought to develop a low power microcontroller as part of the "6482 Project." (Tr. 2218:17–2219:18.) The 6482 Project was based on a chip or core that Yearsley designed when he worked for Zilog. (Tr. 2219:23–2220:14.) Mr. Staab was the project lead and total projected expense was estimated at over \$4 million. (Tr. 2220:21–22; 2234:16–20.)

As of November 2010, Zilog had divested from two products lines and was left with a single product line that had not developed a new product in four years. (Tr. 2223:19–2224:10.) Thus, according to Mr. Staab and internal Zilog documents, it was "critical" for Zilog to develop new products in order to re-establish itself as a player in the semiconductor industry. (Tr. 2224:11–18; Plaintiff's Ex. 42, at Z011597.)

On November 1, 2010, when the Engineers were nearly a year into their full-time employment with ASI, Mr. Staab informed Roberts – then ASI's design manager – that Zilog anticipated having design work available. (Tr. 1843:13–1844:14.) Despite his earlier commitment to inform ASI of any such opportunities, Roberts did not do so. (Tr. 1844:17–1844:21.) Instead, Roberts responded that Sage was interested and arranged with Mr. Staab to have Zilog contract with Sage instead of ASI. (Tr. 1844:22–1845:17; 1850:7–1850:18.)

In view of their experience, the Engineers were better suited than any other contractors available to Zilog to perform the outsourced design services. (Tr. 836:9–17; 1857:17–22.) The Engineers were able to get up to speed faster than less experienced contractors. (Tr. 1857:23–1858:6.) In fact, Zilog did not consider any option other than the Engineers. (Tr. 2239:23–2240:4.)

In January 2011, Roberts executed, on behalf of Sage, a non-disclosure agreement with Zilog. (Tr. 1851:14–17.) Roberts also participated in negotiations with Mr. Staab concerning rates to be charged to Zilog for the anticipated outsourced microcontroller design work. (Tr. 1851:18–1852:18.) On February 15, 2011, Roberts, on behalf of Sage, executed Zilog's Independent Contractor Services Agreement (the "Sage-Zilog Agreement"). (Tr. 1819:21–1820:8.) This agreement prohibited Sage from competing with Zilog by stating, in relevant part, that "during contractor's engagement with Zilog, contractor will not without . . . Zilog's express written consent, engage in any business, or investment in, or assist in any manner any business which directly or indirectly competes with the business or future plans of Zilog." (Tr. 1822:13–1823:8.)

This non-compete provision was reflective of Zilog's policy of preventing conflicts of interest as they relate to employees and contractors – a common and standard industry practice. (Tr. 2287:9–2288:22.) Zilog considered it to be unethical and a conflict of interest for an employee to "moonlight" or simultaneously work for a competitor. (Tr. 1530:5–1531:24.) Roberts understood this provision to be similar to the one he signed as part of his ECA with ASI. (Tr. 1823:12–1823:15.)

#### 6. Tools and Licenses were "Key Challenges" to the 6482 Project

One key expense involved in design engineering of the sort involved in the 6482 Project is associated with securing licenses for use of certain software—or "tools"—used to complete the engineering tasks. (Tr. 1140:19–1142:21.) As of November 22, 2010, Zilog's own business records indicated that the issue of tools and licenses to be used on the 6482 Project was "a key

challenge." (Tr. 2228:7–16; Plaintiff's Ex. 42, at Z011605 (listing "*Tools suites and licensing* cross divisions and locations" as one of the "Key Challenges") (emphasis added).)

According to Mr. Staab, the licensing agreements relating to the tools to be used on the 6482 Project "weren't all complete" as of November 2010. (Tr. 2229:3–7.) Mr. Staab then attempted to downplay these "key challenges" by claiming that what was pending as of November 2010 was the "completion" or "ratification" of a licensing agreement with Synopsys, Inc. (the "Synopsys License"). (Tr. 2229:8–15.) Further seeking to minimize these "key challenges," Mr. Staab also suggested that Zilog easily overcame the challenges by testifying that the tools issue turned out "not to be as difficult as [Zilog] first envisioned."<sup>5</sup> (Tr. 2228:21–23.)

#### 7. The Engineers and Perryman Secretly Work with Zilog

The Engineers and Perryman began working on the 6482 Project as Sage in March 2011. (Tr. 1523:11–1524:6; 2273:14–19; 1676:11–14.) At no point did any of them request permission from ASI to do outside work, including work for Zilog. (Tr. 800:17–802:4.) Nor did any of them receive any express written consent from ASI. (*Id.*; Tr. 1849:6–19.)

Indeed, according to Lloyd, the Engineers had discussions as to whether the outsourced work that they performed through Sage could have been done by them through ASI, their employer; they agreed that it could have been. (Tr. 1680:5–1681:18.) The Engineers resolved, however, to keep the work secret and never disclosed to their employer, ASI, that they were providing outsourced design services to Zilog. (*Id.*; 1681:19–1683:10; 1966:22–1967:1.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> However, as discussed further below, the District Court erroneously precluded ASI from obtaining a copy of, or even inquiring into, the Synopsys License.

Over the course of the next several months, while employed by ASI, the Engineers and Perryman invoiced Zilog for approximately 1,900 hours of undisclosed design engineering and related services in connection with the 6482 Project. (Tr. 1136:15–1137:10; 1149:18–1150:16.)

The Engineers and Perryman worked for Zilog, at various times, during ASI's normal business hours, including taking telephone calls and exchanging e-mail communications using ASI computers. (*See, e.g.*, Tr. 1962:6–1964:3.) Mr. Staab was in regular communication by telephone and e-mail with the Engineers as part of regular weekly status meetings during ASI's normal business hours – initially at 10:00 a.m. and, later, at 4:30 p.m. (Tr. 2276:17–2277:5; 2273:20–2276:1.) The Engineers (under Roberts' supervision) even snuck out of ASI on a weekday morning to take a Zilog call from one of their pickup trucks. (Tr. 1961:21–1962:5.)

#### 8. ASI Terminates Roberts, Yearsley and Tiffany

ASI did not discover that the Engineers and Perryman were involved in the 6482 Project until a former colleague of Mr. Hackler at Zilog, Mr. Doug Smith, disclosed their involvement to Mr. Hackler on September 23, 2011. (Tr. 848:7–849:23.) According to Mr. Hackler, Mr. Smith indicated that Zilog was happy with the work performed by the Engineers. (Tr. 849:1–3.)

Surprised at what he had just learned, Mr. Hackler then inquired of Mr. Wilson who, likewise, was unaware of the work the Engineers and Perryman were doing for Zilog. (Tr. 849:11–850:11.) Mr. Hackler and Mr. Wilson then launched an investigation and interviewed the Engineers. (Tr. 850:13–24.) Unlike the other Engineers, Lloyd recognized the wrongfulness of his conduct and apologized. (Tr. 855:10–856:10.) ASI discovered the existence of Sage, a direct competitor, and its connection with its employees at that time. (*See* Tr. 847:11–16.)

Following the interviews, Mr. Hackler and Mr. Wilson unsuccessfully attempted to reach Mr. Staab at Zilog on the afternoon of September 23, 2011. (Tr. 851:14–18.) Mr. Hackler and Mr. Wilson also called Mr. Alan Shaw at Zilog's Nampa facility and advised him that ASI had discovered that its employees were working for Zilog. (Tr. 851:19–852:15.) Mr. Shaw deferred to Mr. Staab in California. (Tr. 852:9–15.) Mr. Hackler and Mr. Wilson reached Mr. Staab the following day. (Tr. 852:16–19.) Mr. Hackler and Mr. Wilson advised Mr. Staab that ASI had discovered that the Engineers were doing work for Zilog and demanded that Zilog immediately cease using ASI employees as part of its design team. (Tr. 857:2–23.)

ASI terminated Roberts, Yearsley and Tiffany on September 27, 2011. (Tr. 858:21– 859:19; 1130:21–1131:2.) Lloyd was not terminated but now works elsewhere. (Tr. 859:10–19; 1649:21–24.)

#### 9. Zilog Discontinues the Engineers' Work on the 6482 Project

As of September 2011, there was still a significant amount of work pending on the 6482 project. (Tr. 2312:21–25.) In response to ASI's demand, made on or around September 23, 2011, that Zilog cease using the Engineers on the 6482 Project, Zilog discontinued their services around September 25, 2011. (*See* Tr. 2314:5–20; 2323:15–2324:6; 1993:12–1994:5.) The loss of the Engineers was a major setback for Zilog on the 6482 Project. (Tr. 2314:5–20.)

#### C. COURSE OF RELEVANT PROCEEDINGS

#### 1. Pre-Trial

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