Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

7-13-2016

American Semiconductor v. Sage Silicon Respondent's Brief 1 Dckt. 43011

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE MOTION TO COMPEL THE DISCLOSURE OF THE SYNOPSYS LICENSING AGREEMENT BECAUSE THE SYNOPSYS AGREEMENT IS NOT ADMISSIBLE AND ITS PRODUCTION WAS NOT REASONABLY CALCULATED TO LEAD TO THE DISCOVERY OF ADMISSIBLE EVIDENCE.

1. Background

ASI argues that the Trial Court erred in precluding disclosure of the Synopsys license and then excluding evidence of the Synopsys license at trial. ASI obfuscates the issue regarding the Synopsys license by failing to give a full background of the motion practice regarding the Synopsys

license and ASI's position in relation to the license. When this issue was first raised at the January 10, 2014 hearing, ASI claimed that the Sage Defendants used the Synopsys software remotely and that ASI would not know whether or not that was permissible under the license until the license was produced. Tr. p. 102, L. 11-24. The Trial Court pointed out that ASI had not properly requested any software license agreements prior to filing the motion to compel. Tr. p. 112, L. 25 - p. 115, L. 7. However, the Trial Court determined that the real reason that ASI wanted the license agreement produced was as part of its request to have access to ASI's design tools so it could then use the software to access design files produced by Zilog. Tr. p. 101, L. 22 - p. 103, L. 10. The Trial Court denied the request for access to Zilog's design software at the hearing held on January 10, 2014.

ASI did subpoena Synopsys directly and demanded production of the license agreement with Zilog. R. p. 664-65. Synopsys refused to comply. R. p. 900-03. ASI's counsel acknowledged that Synopsys was not properly before the Trial Court on the motion to compel. Tr. p. 186, L. 1-8. Then ASI's counsel claimed that Synopsys did not object to the subpoena on confidentiality grounds but merely stated "we're not going to give it to you because we think you can get it from Zilog." Tr. p. 186, L. 9-11. However, Synopsys objected to the subpoena on several grounds including the following:

3. Synopsys objects to the Subpoena in its entirety on the ground that it seeks confidential information belonging to Synopsys and its customers subject to third party confidentiality agreements.

R. p. 900-03. Synopsys refused to produce the license agreement and was never properly brought

before the Trial Court to be compelled to produce the license agreement. Instead of providing Synopsys with notice of the motion to compel and providing an opportunity to be heard on the matter, ASI attempted to simply force Zilog to produce the license agreement in violation of the confidentiality provisions.

Zilog and Synopsys both refused to produce the license because it contains a confidentiality agreement that prohibits disclosure of the license agreement or its terms. R. p. 878. The issue of the license agreement was then raised again at a hearing on May 2, 2014, after a formal request had been made to Zilog for the license agreement. ASI argued in its memorandum that the license should be disclosed because it was relevant to the "nature and manner in which the Sage defendants provided certain design and related services at issue to Zilog," R. p. 797-798. ASI's only oral argument at the hearing as to why the Synopsys license agreement should be produced was that Zilog violated the license agreement in allowing the Sage Defendants to use the software remotely. Tr. p. 188, L. 13-21. Zilog's counsel pointed out that whether or not Zilog breached licensing agreements in allowing the Sage Defendants to utilize the Synopsys software was a collateral issue that has no relevance to the issues in this case. Tr. p. 191, L. 19 - p. 192, L. 20. In reply, ASI argued that the Synopsys license agreement with Zilog was relevant because it goes to Zilog's intent. Tr. p. 197, L. 23-24. ASI's relevance argument was confusing. Tr. p. 197, L. 23 - p. 198, L. 8. The only relevance claimed by ASI at that time was that it showed Zilog's intent to limit costs, which in turn, according to ASI. inexplicably showed that Zilog knew that the Sage Defendants were ASI employees.

In ruling on the motion to compel, the Trial Court acknowledged that the control of discovery is generally within the discretion of the Trial Court. Tr. p. 200, L. 11-15. The Trial Court then determined that ASI wanted to obtain copies of Zilog's software and that obtaining the Synopsys license agreement was the first step in that process.. Tr. p. 201, L. 14-22. ASI did not want to buy the software to review the design files produced by Zilog. Instead, ASI was trying to force Zilog to give ASI the software for free through the pretext of a discovery request and motion to compel. The Trial Court went on to hold that ASI was attempting to obtain the license agreements in order to prove or disprove "Zilog's claim that it cannot provide ASI with software for purposes of this litigation, which is an issue about whether ASI can review certain documents and not about the discoverability of documents." Tr. p. 202, L. 2-11. Thus, the Trial Court held that producing the Synopsys license agreement was not reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence. Tr. p. 202, L. 2-11. The motion to compel was not denied on relevancy grounds as ASI now argues. It was denied because ASI was attempting to gain access to the software Zilog used to open and manipulate design files, which the Trial Court determined was not really about discovery of the license agreement but about the ability to access files.

ASI did not file a motion to reconsider the decision denying the motion to compel the Synopsys license agreement. Tr. p. 1283, L. 13-24. Discovery ended. ASI then filed a motion in limine on the eve of trial that raised the issue of the Synopsys license again. ASI filed a motion in limine asking that the Court prevent the Sage Defendants and Zilog from introducing any evidence

or making any arguments related to the Synopsys license. R. p. 1255-56. ASI did not want any of the Defendants to be able to use the fact that Zilog already had design tools, such as the Synopsys software, in arguments related to damages or to explain why Zilog would not have agreed to do the work performed by the Sage Defendants through ASI. Tr. p. 493, L. 14 - p. 494, L. 20. However, the Trial Court properly recognized that cost of the tools was never an issue raised in the motion to compel and that ASI had never made a discovery request about the cost of the Synopsys software. Tr. p. 495, L. 10 - p. 496, L. 10. ASI tried to waffle and argue that the motion to compel the license agreement did have to do with costs because the price of the tools would be in the license agreement. However, the Trial Court then stated:

THE COURT: That was more the focus of the issues last spring, as who can use this, where can they physically use it, do they have to go to the employer's site to use it, what state is it in, how many users, those kinds of things, it wasn't the cost of the tools that -- that was the focus of the motion, as I recall.

MR. ZARIAN: I think that's fair, Your Honor.

Tr. p. 499, L. 5-11. It is abundantly clear that the first time cost of the Synopsys software was raised by ASI was in the motion in limine. It was not an issue raised at all during the motion to compel. The matter was taken under advisement and a ruling was not issued until after trial commenced.

Before issuing a decision on the motion in limine the Trial Court conducted an in camera review of the most recent addendum to the Synopsys license agreement with Zilog. The addendum

¹ Neither the Sage Defendants nor their counsel have ever had access to or reviewed the Synopsys license agreement. The Sage Defendants have the same information about the license agreement as ASI.

related back to the original license agreement that had been in place since 2004. Tr. p. 1283, L. 25 - p. 1285, L. 9. From that review the Trial Court determined that Zilog and the individual Sage Defendants were listed as proper users under the license agreement. Tr. p. 1284, L. 10-19. The Trial Court then determined that there was no basis for ASI's argument during the motion to compel that Zilog had breached the Synopsys license agreement. Tr. p. 1284, L. 20 - p. 1285, L. 5. The Trial Court also pointed out that the license agreement did not contain any provision that the cost for the license was increased by adding contractors, such as the Sage Defendants, to the list of users under the license agreement. Tr. p. 1285, L. 6-17. The Trial Court noted that the only information that ASI was now lacking in regard to the Synopsys software was the actual price, which the Trial Court stated "plaintiff knows how to find out the prices of tools, knows how to use the Internet, knows how to look up list prices." Tr. p. 1285, L. 18 - p. 1286, L. 17.

A rather strange exchange then took place between ASI's counsel and the Trial Court. ASI's counsel emphatically stated that the purpose of the motion in limine was not to reconsider the denial of the prior motion to compel but to enforce it. ASI's counsel stated:

And -- and I do just want to explain, Your Honor, we're actually seeking, to be clear, to enforce the Court's order from April. We're not looking to -- to overturn it or change it; we're actually looking to enforce the Court's discovery order from April.

Tr. p. 1294, L. 15-19. The only way to interpret this exchange is that ASI was arguing that it was trying to enforce the denial of its own motion to compel. ASI went on to explain that it was prejudiced because it had previously assumed that costs were incurred by Zilog before it could allow the Sage

Defendants to use the Synopsys tools. Tr. p. 1297, L. 15 - p. 1298, L. 4. Now, however, after reviewing the license agreement, the Trial Court concluded there were no additional or incremental costs associated with adding the Sage Defendants to the software license. Tr. p. 1285, L. 6-17. The Trial Court also pointed out that counsel for ASI's assumption was ill-founded because the list prices for the software would have been discovered with a little research by ASI. Tr. p. 1285, L. 18 - p. 1286, L. 17.

ASI concluded its oral argument by again stating that it was trying to enforce the denial of the motion to compel. Counsel for ASI stated:

So, all we're seeking, Your Honor, is to make sure that nothing new comes in that shouldn't have been, and that wasn't disclosed during discovery.

We don't even know the date of the addendum, you know, that was submitted to the Court. There – there's so much we don't know. And -- and we're just looking to keep out things that -- that weren't because the Court ordered the way it did. And we seek to enforce that at this point; nothing new should be coming in that wasn't disclosed.

Tr. p. 1306, L. 7-16. After arguing the motion in limine, ASI took the position that the Synopsys license agreement should not be admitted at trial, which contradicts the position it is taking on appeal.

The Trial Court was understandably perplexed by ASI's position on the motion in limine. The Trial Court denied the motion in limine on three separate grounds. First, that the total cost in the Synopsys license agreement was not relevant because it did not prove incremental increases in costs for contractors or consultants such as the Sage Defendants. Second, the Trial Court stated that there was no prejudice to ASI because ASI knew or was able to independently determine what it would cost to acquire the same tools and could calculate damages based on that information. Finally, the Trial

Court concluded by holding that there was also a confidentiality agreement that prevented disclosure of the Synopsys license. Tr. p. 1307, L. 7 - p. 1308, L. 16. The Trial Court reaffirmed that one of the considerations in denying the motion in limine was the confidentiality provisions of the license agreement which was the basis on which the Trial Court sustained the objection when the issue was later presented before the jury. Tr. p. 2358, L. 20 - p. 2359, L. 9. There was never an attempt at trial to have the Synopsys license admitted.

2. Standard of Review and Applicable Law

"The control of discovery is within the discretion of the trial court." *McCann v. McCann*, 152 Idaho 809, 821, 275 P.3d 824, 836 (2012) (quoting *Jen–Rath Co. v. Kit Mfg. Co.*, 137 Idaho 330, 336, 48 P.3d 659, 665 (2002)). Typically, a trial court's decision to deny a motion to compel will not be disturbed unless there has been a clear abuse of discretion. *Villa Highlands, LLC v. W. Cmty. Ins. Co.*, 148 Idaho 598, 609, 226 P.3d 540, 551 (2010).

To determine whether there is an abuse of discretion this Court considers whether (1) the court correctly perceived the issue as one of discretion; (2) the court acted within the boundaries of such discretion and consistently with legal standards applicable to specific choices; and (3) the court reached its decision by an exercise of reason.

McCann, 152 Idaho at 821, 275 P.3d at 836 (quoting *Lee v. Nickerson*, 146 Idaho 5, 9, 189 P.3d 467, 471 (2008)).

Rule 26 of the Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure provides that "a document is discoverable if it is both relevant and not privileged." *Ketterling v. Burger King Corp.*, 152 Idaho 555, 562, 272 P.3d

527, 534 (2012) (citing I.R.C.P. 26(b)(1)). If a particular document sought in discovery is not relevant it is not discoverable. *Id.* A trial court's denial of a motion to compel the disclosure of a document that is not relevant is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Id.*

3. Argument and Analysis

ASI argues that the Trial Court erred by precluding discovery of the Synopsys Agreement on relevance grounds. However, the motion to compel was denied on other grounds. The Trial Court ruled that ASI could not obtain the Synopsys license agreement because the real reason ASI brought the motion to compel was to get access to the software available to Zilog. Tr. p. 101, L. 22 - p. 103, L. 10; Tr. p. 202, L. 2-11. The Trial Court held:

The Court is not convinced, at this point, that the requests for software -- the software licensing agreements between Zilog and its vendors is reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence. Rather, it seems, to the Court at least, to be pointed at proving or disproving Zilog's claim that it cannot provide ASI with software for purposes of this litigation, which is an issue about whether ASI can review certain documents and not about the discoverability of documents.

It seems to me that this portion of the motion to compel should be denied.

Tr. p. 202, L. 2-13. The motion to compel was not denied on relevancy grounds. The Trial Court recognized that this was a matter of discretion. Tr. p. 200, L. 11-15. The Trial Court acted within the bounds of its discretion in determining that ASI's pursuit of the Synopsys agreement was not reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of relevant evidence because it was clear to the Trial Court that ASI was trying to get access to Zilog's license agreements to see if it could use software

licensed and paid for by Zilog to review documents ASI had obtained in discovery but did not have the software to access. This was a reasonable conclusion as that was the focus of ASI's arguments and ASI even couched its argument for the discovery of the licenses in those terms. Tr. p. 103, L. 3-10.

ASI never asked the Trial Court to reconsider the decision denying the motion to compel. Then ASI filed a motion in limine wherein ASI represented that it was seeking to enforce the decision on the motion to compel at trial. During argument on the motion in limine, ASI's counsel agreed that there was no argument that the Synopsys license was relevant on the issue of costs raised in support of the motion to compel. Tr. p. 499, L. 5-11. The Trial Court's decision should not be reversed on grounds that were never presented to the Trial Court.

ASI asserts that the Trial Court further erred by resorting to an unfair ex parte process in reviewing the Synopsys license agreement in camera. However, the license agreement was reviewed as part of the motion in limine and not as part of the motion to compel. Similarly, the argument that the Trial Court erred by relying on credibility findings had nothing to do with the motion to compel. The findings referenced by ASI were during the arguments on the motion limine. The Trial Court properly exercised its discretion in denying the motion to compel. ASI has not made any showing that the decision was an abuse of discretion.

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